1991

# Michel Lounsbury v. Neal C. Capel : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Statutory jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court because this is an appeal from the judgment of a district court over which the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction. Utah Code Ann. §§ 78-2-2(3)(j); 78-2a-3 (Supp. 1990).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Was Section 78-14-5(4)(b) Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, improperly construed and applied by the lower court in its conclusion of law that the consent executed by Plaintiff's wife was proper when Plaintiff was capable of giving such consent himself and when Plaintiff had previously refused to execute the consent?

2. Assuming that the lower court's construction of Section 78-14-5-(4)(b) was proper, is said statute unconstitutional as applied in this case in that it denies Plaintiff due process and the right to privacy as guaranteed by Article I Sections 7 and 27 of the Utah Constitution and Amendment 14, Section 1 and fundamental penumbra rights of the United States Constitution?

3. Did the lower court improperly determine that Section 78-14-5(1) precluded Plaintiff's cause of action for common law battery?

4. Is Section 78-14-5(1) unconstitutional as applied in this case in that it denies Plaintiff a remedy for common law battery, denies Plaintiff due process and denies Plaintiff equal protection of the law as guaranteed under Article I, Sections 7, 11 and 24 of the Utah Constitution and Amendment 14, Section 1 of the United States Constitution?

Since all of the above issues prevented for review are based upon conclusions of law, the appropriate standard of review is that the lower court's conclusion should be accorded no particular deference and should be reviewed for correctness. Asay v. Watkins, 751 P.2d 1135 (Utah 1988); Scharf v. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985). Further, the order dismissing the case was essentially a directed verdict based on proffered evidence. Thus, this Court must examine that evidence in a light most favorable to Plaintiff and if there is a reasonable basis in the evidence, and in the inferences to be drawn therefrom, that

would support a judgment in favor of Plaintiff, the final order of the lower court must be reversed. Management Committee of Greystone Pines Homeowners Assn. v. Greystone Pines, Inc., 652 P.2d 896, 897-98 (Utah 1982).

#### TEXT OF AUTHORITIES

1. U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1.

All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and the State wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; or deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

2. Utah Const. art. I, § 7.

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

3. Utah Const. art. I, § 11.

All courts shall be open, and every person, for an injury done to him in his person, property or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law, which shall be administered without denial or unnecessary delay; and no person shall be barred from prosecuting or defending before any tribunal in this State, by himself or counsel, any civil cause to which he is a party.

4. Utah Const. art. I, § 24.

All laws of a general nature shall have uniform operation.

5. Utah Const. art. I, § 27.

Frequent recurrence to fundamental principles is essential to the security of individual rights and the perpetuity of free government.

6. Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-5 (1987). (Set forth verbatim in Addendum [hereinafter "A."] 1-3).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff brought this action for battery against Defendant related to back surgery performed by Defendant on Plaintiff on May 15, 1987. Plaintiff alleges that such surgery was performed without his consent, that the surgery was unsuccessful and, therefore, he is entitled to general and special damages for Defendant's battery. Complaint, ¶¶ 10-12. (R.2).

Trial of the case commenced on January 29, 1990. A jury was duly empanelled and counsel for both parties delivered opening statements. Before any witnesses were called, the parties stipulated that evidence would be submitted by proffer and the Court would rule whether such evidence, as proffered and taken in a light most favorable to Plaintiff, would support a judgment in favor of Plaintiff. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order (hereinafter "Findings" or "Conclusions" or "Order") 1-2. (R. 320-21; A. 6-7).

Based upon the proffers presented by counsel, the lower court determined, as a matter of law, that based upon Section 78-14-5 of the Utah Code, Defendant was entitled to a directed verdict. Accordingly, the Court dismissed the case, with prejudice. Order at 5. (R. 324; A. 10).

In support of its order of dismissal, the lower court reasoned that a consent executed by Plaintiff's wife, Janet Lounsbury, was proper under Section 78-14-5(4)(b) of the Utah

Code, that the consent form signed by Mrs. Lounsbury complied with Section 78-14-5(2)(e) of the Utah Code and, therefore, Defendant was authorized as a matter of law to rely upon the consent to perform the surgery. Conclusions, ¶¶ 2-4. (R. 322; A. 8).

Further, the lower court determined that Plaintiff had failed to prove that he suffered any personal injuries arising out of the surgery performed by Defendant, that a reasonable prudent person in Plaintiff's position would have consented to the health care after being fully informed and that the Plaintiff had failed to show that the unauthorized surgery was the proximate cause of the injuries he complained of in accordance with subsections (c), (f) and (g) of Section 78-14-5(1). Conclusions, ¶¶ 7-8. (R. 323; A. 9).

The lower court also specifically determined that Plaintiff could not recover for mental and emotional damages because such damages were unforeseeable to Defendant and therefore, were not proximately caused by Defendant's surgery. Finally, the lower court stated that because Plaintiff had failed to show that Defendant was negligent, and that such negligence was a proximate cause of Plaintiff's injury, he could not recover. Based on the above reasoning, the lower court determined that Plaintiff's claim for lack of informed consent failed as a matter of law. Conclusions, ¶¶ 8-10. (R. 323-24; A. 9-10).

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff injured his lower back in an industrial accident on October 10, 1986. After attempting for several months to treat the injury by conservative means, Plaintiff's treating physician recommended surgery. Plaintiff sought a second opinion from a Dr. David Moore in St. George. Dr. Moore also suggested surgery, however, he declined to perform it. (Tr. 46-49).

Ultimately, on April 22, 1987, Plaintiff visited Defendant and was examined in his office. Plaintiff stated some personal misgivings and concerns about having surgery but, subsequent to the exam, Defendant did recommend surgery. Because of the way Defendant conducted the examination and his overall attitude, Plaintiff continued to have misgivings about the surgery and expressed them to Defendant. Nevertheless, a myelogram, which is a special x-ray of the back, was scheduled for May 14, 1987, with surgery to follow the next morning. (Tr. 49-50).

At the time Defendant's agent, Brent Little, called to schedule the myelogram, Plaintiff expressed to Little that he would decide to consent to the surgery after the results of the myelogram were fully discussed and explained to Plaintiff. Plaintiff reiterated these same intentions on the morning of May 14th, immediately prior to the myelogram being performed. (Tr. 50-51).

After the myelogram testing was completed by approximately noon of May 14, 1990, Plaintiff was admitted to Dixie Medical

Center in St. George. At that time a nurse presented Plaintiff with a consent form for the surgery contemplated by Defendant. Because Plaintiff had not discussed the results of the myelogram with Defendant, he refused to execute the consent. Similarly, later that afternoon when an anesthetist discussed anesthetic procedures with Plaintiff, Plaintiff again refused to execute the consent to anesthetic services. (Tr. 51-52).

Although even later in the afternoon of May 14th Defendant did come to the door of Plaintiff's hospital room and state that he was going to examine the myelogram results, Defendant never returned to Plaintiff's room to discuss and explain the myelogram results. (Tr. 52).

From approximately 1:00 p.m. on May 14, Plaintiff was given Demerol and other medication which made him drowsy. The following morning at 7:00 a.m., while Plaintiff was under the influence of the above medication, plus pre-operative anesthetic that was administered at approximately 6:00 a.m., a nurse presented Plaintiff's wife, Janet Lounsbury, a sheaf of forms and told her to sign them. Mrs. Lounsbury felt intimidated and assumed that Defendant had spoken to Plaintiff regarding the myelogram results. Therefore, Mrs. Lounsbury executed the papers, which included a consent form for the surgery and the anesthetic services. Immediately after Mrs. Lounsbury executed the forms, Plaintiff was transported to the surgery suite, where surgery was ultimately performed on Plaintiff. (Tr. 51-53). (R. 103, 120; A. 4-5).

Since the surgery was performed, Plaintiff's physical and mental condition have worsened. Testimony from Dr. Reed Fogg, an orthopedic surgeon, shows that the surgery was unsuccessful and that Plaintiff's physical condition was considerably worse at the time of trial than immediately prior to the surgery. Further, testimony from Dr. Daniel P. Sternberg, a psychologist, establishes that Plaintiff is now suffering from depression and related psychological problems because of the unsuccessful surgery. (Tr. 71-75).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I: Section 78-14-5(4)(b) should be liberally construed in light of subsection (3), which allows any person to refuse health care for religious or personal reasons and subsection (2)(e) which invalidates a consent obtained without legal capacity or by fraudulent omission. Further, based upon a liberal interpretation of Section 78-14-5(4), a spouse may consent to surgery only in an emergency or when the patient is otherwise unable to execute the consent form himself.

POINT II: Assuming Section 78-14-5(4)(b) was properly construed by the lower court to authorize Plaintiff's spouse to consent to surgery upon Plaintiff, said section is unconstitutional as applied because it denies to Plaintiff a basic liberty and a right to privacy to determine what is done with his own body and to be free from bodily invasion, without a legitimate state justification or interest to be protected.



POINT III: Because Plaintiff has alleged that Defendant did not obtain any consent whatsoever, this case does not involve failure to obtain informed consent, which, as a term of art, is defined as the disclosure of the facts upon which a patient can decide whether to submit to health care. Therefore, based upon the proper definition of "informed consent", Section 78-14-5(1) does not apply in this case and Plaintiff can maintain his cause of action for common law battery. Finally, even if Plaintiff must prove the elements of Section 78-14-5(1), he has proffered sufficient facts to prove a prima facie case under that provision.

POINT IV: Even assuming that the lower court properly required Plaintiff to prove the additional elements under Section 78-14-5(1) and further assuming that Plaintiff cannot make a prima facie case under such elements, then Section 78-14-5(1) is unconstitutional. First, it denies Plaintiff a remedy for common law battery without providing an adequate substitute for it and without a reasonable legitimate justification, as prohibited under the Open Courts Provision of the Utah Constitution. Second, the denial of the common law cause of action for battery deprives Plaintiff of a cause of action (property) without due process of law. Finally, because Section 78-14-5(1) treats plaintiffs in battery actions against health care providers differently from plaintiffs in other battery actions, and there is no rational justification for such distinction, the section is an unconstitutional denial of equal protection and uniform operation of laws.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

SECTION 78-14-5(4)(b) OF THE UTAH CODE WAS IMPROPERLY CONSTRUED AND APPLIED BY THE LOWER COURT IN DETERMINING THAT PLAINTIFF'S SPOUSE WAS AUTHORIZED TO CONSENT TO SURGERY WHEN PLAINTIFF WAS CAPABLE OF GIVING SUCH CONSENT HIMSELF AND HAD PREVIOUSLY EXPRESSED HIS REFUSAL TO CONSENT TO SURGERY

Based upon its construction of 78-14-5(4)(b) of the Utah Code, the lower court determined that the consent form executed by Mrs. Lounsbury was authorized, that it fulfilled the requirements of Section 78-14-5(2)(e) and that, therefore, Defendant could rely upon the consent and perform the surgery. Conclusions, ¶¶ 2-4. (R. 322; A. 8). In so ruling, the lower court has improperly construed Section 78-14-5(4)(b) in light of other provisions of the same statute.

Section 68-3-2 of the Utah Code states that statutes "and their provisions and all proceedings under them are to be liberally construed with a view to effect the objects of the statutes and to promote justice." Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-2 (1986). See Houston Real Estate Investment Co. v. Hechler, 44 Utah 64, 138 P. 1159, 1161 (1914).

Another general rule of statutory construction is that the statute should be considered as a whole and that every provision should be considered and given meaning if it is possible to give effect to it. Fletcher v. Paige, 124 Mont. 114, 220 P.2d 484, 486 (1950); Union Pacific Railroad Co. v. Bean, 167 Or. 535, 119 P.2d 575, 579 (1941).

In the instant case, the lower court failed to consider two provisions in its construction of of Section 78-14-5 and its ultimate determination that the consent executed by Mrs. Lounsbury was proper.

Subsection (3) provides that "[n]othing contained in this act shall be construed to prevent any person eighteen years of age or over from refusing to consent to health care for his own person upon personal or religious grounds." Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-5(3) (1987). Subsection (2)(e) provides that a written consent form, with all of the provisions required by subsection (2)(e), is a defense in an action for failure to obtain consent "unless the patient proves that the person giving the consent lacked capacity to consent or shows by clear and convincing proof that the execution of the written consent was induced by the defendant's affirmative acts of fraudulent misrepresentation or fraudulent omission to state material facts." Id., Subsection (2)(e).

In this case, Plaintiff specifically stated his intention on at least two occasions that he would not consent to surgery until the doctor had fully explained the results of the myelogram with him. In effect, therefore, he was refusing to consent until that discussion was completed, which it never was. Furthermore, Plaintiff expressly refused to sign consent forms on at least two separate occasions when they were presented to him. Under subsection (3), Mrs. Lounsbury could not override Plaintiff's

refusal to consent by executing the consent form under subsection (4)(b) and, therefore, such consent was invalid.

Because of Plaintiff's repeated refusal, Mrs. Lounsbury "lacked capacity to consent" as provided under subsection (2)(e). Furthermore, since Defendant never explained the results of the myelogram to either Plaintiff or his wife, it may amount to a "fraudulent omission to state material facts", thereby voiding any consent form executed by Mrs. Lounsbury.

Even assuming subsections (2)(e) and (3) do not nullify the consent form executed by Mrs. Lounsbury, subsection (4)(b) should be liberally construed to apply only when Plaintiff was incapable of giving the consent himself. In other words, it must first be determined whether Plaintiff can give consent under subsection (4)(e) as a "patient eighteen years of age or over" before resorting to obtain consent from his spouse under subsection (4)(b). This court seems to apply such a construction in Reiser v. Lohner, 641 P.2d 93 (Utah 1982).

In Reiser, a child and her parents brought a malpractice action for damages related to the obstetrical care of Mrs. Reiser and the delivery of the child. Plaintiffs claimed, inter alia, that the consent for an amniocentesis, which apparently set off the unfortunate chain of events in the case, should have been obtained from both parents, not just Mrs. Reiser. The lower court determined that consent from only the mother was appropriate and this court affirmed, citing Section 78-14-5(4)(f)

for the proposition that "where a married woman is in full possession of her faculties, she alone has the power to submit to surgical procedures upon herself." Id. at 99. This court also stated:

It is the settled general rule that in the absence of an emergency or unanticipated conditions, a physician must first obtain the consent of the patient before treating or operating on him. The physician must inform the patient of all substantial and significant risks which might occur; yet he need not advise the patient of every conceivable risk.

Id. at 98 (emphasis added) (footnote omitted).

The sense of Reiser is, then, that the health care provider must first go to the patient to obtain consent for a surgical procedure. If there is an emergency or other unanticipated condition making the patient incapable of giving his consent, then, and only then, should the health care provider resort to obtaining consent from other persons as provided under subsection (4)(b). Indeed, the consent form itself signed by Mrs. Lounsbury apparently recognized this rule. It provides that the signature of a representative is "[t]o be used only if the patient is a minor or unable to sign." (R. 120; A. 5).

Defendant will likely contend that the requirements of Reiser have been met because, at the time Mrs. Lounsbury signed the consent form, Plaintiff was unconscious from preoperative medication. Such a contention is improper, however, in the context of the elective surgery that was to be performed upon Plaintiff.

In Eis v. Chestnut, 96 N.M. 45, 627 P.2d 1244 (Ct. App.), cert. denied, 96 N.M. 116, 628 P.2d 686 (1981), plaintiff brought an action against defendant for medical malpractice and battery, claiming that defendant performed a knee operation on the plaintiff without plaintiff's consent. Defendant had obtained consent for the surgery from plaintiff's daughter on the day before the surgery, apparently, because at the time, plaintiff was confused. The lower court granted summary judgment for the defendant doctor, but the New Mexico Court of Appeals reversed, holding that there was a genuine issue of material fact as to whether proper consent could have been obtained from the plaintiff. The court stated that there was no evidence that the surgery was performed in an emergency or that plaintiff's confusion lasted for such a long period that she could not have consented at some other time, while she was not disoriented. Id., 627 P.2d at 1247.

In the instant case, although there is no dispute that Plaintiff was unable to sign the consent form at 7:00 a.m. on the morning of surgery, this was elective surgery, there was no emergency and there is certainly evidence that there were other times at which consent could have been obtained, including two occasions on the day prior to surgery. Therefore, if subsection (4)(b) is construed under the Reiser criteria, then the consent form executed by Mrs. Lounsbury was insufficient.

POINT II

SECTION 78-14-5(4)(b), AS APPLIED BY THE LOWER COURT, IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS A DEPRIVATION OF LIBERTY WITHOUT DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND AS AN IMPROPER DEPRIVATION OF THE FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT TO PRIVACY

Assuming that Section 78-14-5(4)(b) cannot be appropriately construed to nullify Mrs. Lounsbury's consent to the surgery, then such provision is unconstitutional as applied in this case because it deprives Plaintiff of liberty without due process of law as required under both the United States and Utah Constitutions. U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1; Utah Const. art. I, ¶ 7. Similarly, it deprives Plaintiff of the fundamental right to privacy as construed to exist under both Constitutions. See Griswold v. Connecticut, 381 U.S. 479, 485-86 (1965); cases cited, infra; Utah Const. art. I, § 27.

As early as 1923, the United States Supreme Court has recognized that liberty encompasses something more than "freedom from bodily restraint." Meyer v. Nebraska, 262 U.S. 390, 399 (1923). There, the Court stated the following definition of liberty:

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