1991

Michel Lounsbury v. Neal C. Capel : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Plaintiff's sole argument on appeal is that Dr. Capel performed surgery on March 15, 1987 without his consent. Plaintiff does not claim the surgery was unnecessary; nor that there was anything improper with regard to the operative technique; nor that Dr. Capel failed to properly inform him regarding the prospective surgery.

Since the inception of this lawsuit, plaintiff has attempted to fashion the facts of this case into some theory of recovery. He has failed and should fail on this appeal because there was absolutely no tortious conduct on the part of the defendant.

The plaintiff alleges he did not consent to the procedure, but his conduct as a matter of law demonstrates that he did. The Utah legislature anticipated this type of occurrence and mandated that when a person submits to health care rendered by a health care provider, it is presumed that what the health care provider did was either expressly or impliedly authorized to be done. As a matter of public policy, a patient cannot keep his fingers crossed behind his back and thereby place in jeopardy those who rely on what he says and does.

In addition to the plaintiff's obvious implied consent to treatment, express consent was obtained. Again, by statute, in Utah a spouse is authorized to sign on behalf of a patient. It is important to note there is no requirement that written consent be obtained; nonetheless, in this case, a written consent was

properly obtained and was in full compliance with the provisions of the Utah Code which provides that such a written consent "shall be a defense to any malpractice action against a health care provider . . ." Section 78-14-5(2)(e), Utah Code Ann. (1953, as amended).

Next, plaintiff attempts to state a claim for a lack of informed consent, but he has never denied that he was properly informed and he has been unable to establish damages were proximately caused by defendant's surgery. Thus, as a matter of law, plaintiff fails to establish the requisite elements of a claim for lack of informed consent as outlined in § 78-14-5(1) and subparts (a) through (g), inclusive, Utah Code Ann. (1953, as amended).

Next, plaintiff attempts to create a claim for common law battery. This claim is similarly barred because consent was given. Furthermore, common law battery has been subsumed by the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act insofar as it can be applied to health care providers. In addition, the Utah Supreme court, under similar facts, has already rejected such a technical battery claim. Baxter v. Snow, discussed infra at page 13.

As a last resort, plaintiff now asserts that the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act is unconstitutional. However, plaintiff's arguments are misplaced. The plaintiff was not required to submit to surgery; he, on his own volition, went to the hospital and he accepted each of the procedures which led to the operating

room. He never once made known to Dr. Capel any reluctance regarding surgery. He was not deprived of any right. He could have exercised his constitutional rights by putting on his shoes and walking out the door.

Finally, public policy dictates that physicians and hospitals must have the ability to obtain consent from someone other than a patient. Here, Dixie Medical Center did so only to insure that the patient would not come back later and say that he had been given pain medications and therefore his consent was improperly obtained. Hospitals all across America have similar guidelines requiring hospital staff to obtain signed consent from representatives of patients who have been given pain medications. Such a practice does not violate constitutional rights.

Consequently, none of plaintiff's attempts to recover against defendant for surgery he requested and obtained have any merit. There simply was no tortious conduct on the part of Dr. Capel.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DEFENDANT WAS ENTITLED TO RELY UPON THE
CONSENT EXPRESSED BY THE CONDUCT OF PLAINTIFF
AND OBTAINED FROM PLAINTIFF'S WIFE.

A. Implied Consent.

When a person submits to health care, "it shall be presumed that what the health care provider did was either expressly or

impliedly authorized to be done." Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-5(1) (1953, as amended).

This statutory presumption had its inception in the early case of Baxter v. Snow, 2 P.2d 257 (Utah 1931). There, the patient claimed that the defendant doctor treated him without his consent. The court held that the patient's voluntary submission to an examination and to treatment by the doctor and his acquiescence in the doctor's acts impliedly authorized the doctor to diagnose the plaintiff's case and to use any reasonable treatment he deemed necessary. The voluntary submission by the plaintiff to the physician for care and treatment was deemed to have evidenced the patient's consent to the operation. Consequently, the court concluded it is erroneous to instruct the jury that surgery without consent is a technical battery.

In the present case, as in Baxter, the conduct of the patient evidenced consent to the surgery. Similar results were reached in Charley v. Cameron, 528 P.2d 1205 (Kan. 1974), which involved an obstetrical patient with a stated fear of forceps. Because neither she nor her husband stated a clear objection to their use during the delivery, the court found as a matter of law that consent to surgical treatment had been granted by the conduct of the patient. Further, once such implied consent has been given, there can be no recovery for battery. 528 P.2d at 1210-11.

In Grannum v. Berard, 422 P.2d 812 (Wash. 1967), the patient claimed pain medications given after admission to the hospital for planned surgery so clouded the patient's judgment that the written consent was invalid. The Washington Supreme Court was unpersuaded and held:

The rule is well established that in surgical cases, consent to such procedure must be obtained from either the patient, or, if the patient is under some disability, from a near relative capable of giving consent. Such consent to surgery may be manifested in a number of ways: as an express consent the patient may sign a formal written permission or agree orally; or he may give implied authority by his conduct, as in voluntarily submitting to an operation or by failing to object.

422 P.2d at 814, cites omitted. Thus, regardless of the question of express consent, the court determined implied consent authorized the surgery as a matter of law.

The court then concluded:

We do not believe there is room for reasonable minds to differ that the plaintiff has failed to overcome by clear, cogent and convincing evidence the presumption that he comprehended the nature, terms and effect of the consent given for the surgical operation.

Id. at 815. The court then affirmed the trial court's directed verdict in favor of the defendant.

Here, as in Grannum, plaintiff has failed to produce the required "clear, cogent and convincing evidence" necessary to rebut the statutory presumption that the health care rendered was authorized. Conversely, Dr. Capel, by statute and by Utah case

law directly on point, was absolutely entitled to rely on the implied consent of this patient.

Consequently, since both the Utah statutory provision for medical consent and case law recognize that consent to a medical procedure can be impliedly given and because such implied consent was given in the present case, the plaintiff cannot prevail upon any of his proposed causes of action.

B. Spousal Consent.

Section 78-14-5(4)(b) of the Utah Code specifically authorizes any married person to consent to health care for a spouse. (Addendum D.) Therefore, Dr. Capel was absolutely entitled to rely on Mrs. Lounsbury's express consent to her husband's surgery. (See "Admissions" set forth as Addendum F.)

Further, while there is no requirement written consent be obtained, the written consent form Mrs. Lounsbury signed complied fully with the statutory requirements of the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act. The form, once signed, became a complete defense absent circumstances not present here:

It shall be a defense to any malpractice action against a health care provider based upon alleged failure to obtain informed consent if: . . . (e) the patient or his representative executed a written consent which sets forth the nature and purpose of the intended health care and which contains a declaration that the patient accepts the risk of substantial and serious harm, if any, in hopes of obtaining desired beneficial results of health care and which acknowledges that health care providers involved have explained his condition and the proposed health care in a satisfactory manner and that all questions asked about the

health care and its attendant risks have been answered in a manner satisfactory to the patient or his representative . . .

§ 78-14-5(2)(e), Utah Code Ann. (Supp. 1976) (emphasis added).

Thus, along with impliedly authorizing the surgery by his conduct, the hospital staff properly obtained written express authorization. Dr. Capel was clearly entitled to rely on the patient's apparent and stated decision to proceed with scheduled surgery.

POINT II

PLAINTIFF CANNOT ESTABLISH A CLAIM OF LACK OF INFORMED CONSENT.

To establish "lack of informed consent," plaintiff must prove all of the statutory elements encoded in subsection (1) of § 78-14-5, Utah Code Ann. (1953, as amended). Burton v. Youngblood, 711 P.2d 245, 249 (Utah 1985). Thus, in order for the plaintiff to recover damages from the defendant based on the defendant's alleged failure to obtain consent, the plaintiff was required to have established:

- (a) That a provider/patient relationship existed between the patient and health care provider; and
- (b) the health care provider rendered health care to the patient; and
- (c) the patient suffered personal injuries arising out of the health care rendered; and
- (d) the health care rendered carried with it a substantial and significant risk of causing the patient serious harm; and

(e) the patient was not informed of the substantial and significant risk; and

(f) a reasonable, prudent person in the patient's position would not have consented to the health care rendered after having been fully informed as to all facts relevant to the decision to give consent. In determining what a reasonable, prudent person in the patient's position would do under the circumstances, the finder of fact shall use the viewpoint of the patient before health care was provided and before the occurrence of any personal injuries alleged to have arisen from said health care; and

(g) the unauthorized part of the health care rendered was the proximate cause of personal injury suffered by the patient.

Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-5(1) (1953, as amended).

In the present case, the plaintiff did not proffer any evidence proving that the operation performed by the defendant proximately caused any injury or damage to his person. In fact, the plaintiff's attorney was unable to find even one medical expert willing to testify that the operation more probably than not caused or increased the plaintiff's current physical problems.

In addition, the court found, based on the proffer of evidence, that plaintiff was fully informed regarding the surgery. Further, the court was not persuaded a reasonable person would have objected under the same circumstances--that is, months of pain and disability; unsuccessful attempts at conservative management; several concurring opinions regarding the need for surgery; the threat of losing disability benefits unless surgery was performed.

Consequently, the trial court properly ruled plaintiff had not presented sufficient facts to support a claim for lack of informed consent.

POINT III

PLAINTIFF CANNOT PREVAIL ON A CLAIM FOR BATTERY.

The Utah Health Care Malpractice Act specifically subsumes all torts which could conceivably arise within the context of a patient/physician relationship. Section 78-14-3 defines the following terms: "Health care" is defined as "any act or treatment performed or furnished, or which should have been performed or furnished, by any health care provider for, to, or on behalf of a patient during the patient's medical care, treatment, or confinement."

"Malpractice action against a health care provider" is defined as "any action against a health care provider, whether in contract, tort, breach of warranty, wrongful death, or otherwise, based upon alleged personal injuries relating to or arising out of health care rendered or which should have been rendered by the health care provider."

Finally, "tort" is defined as "any legal wrong, breach of duty, or negligent or unlawful act or omission proximately causing injury or damage to another."

Based on these statutory definitions, the plaintiff cannot avoid application of the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act to the

facts of this case by attempting to frame his complaint as a claim for battery. In other words, "labeling the act an intentional tort does not change the action from what it is, a species of medical malpractice." Sistrunk v. Hoshall, 530 So.2d 935 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1988).

Generally, operating on a patient without the patient's consent is considered a form of medical malpractice, and not battery. Vargas v. Rosal-Arcillas, 438 N.Y.S.2d 986 (1981). For example, in Revord v. Russell, 401 N.E.2d 763, 766 (Ind. App. 1980), the court held that:

An action prefaced on the doctrine of informed consent is now considered as one based on negligence, not BATTERY, an intentional tort. See Natanson v. Kline, 1960 186 Kan. 393, 350 P.2d 1093, modified, 187 Kan. 186, 354 P.2d 670; Prosser, Torts (4th ed. 1971) 165, 166. Thus, as in any negligence case a plaintiff must show a duty owed to him and a breach of that duty (by falling below the set standard of care) which proximately causes a compensable injury. (Emphasis in original.)

Likewise, in Dries v. Gregor, 424 N.Y.S.2d 561 (N.Y.A.D. 1980), the Court noted that the conduct of the parties should be measured by a negligence as opposed to an assault and battery analysis in malpractice actions. The Dries court concluded:

We believe that medical treatment beyond the scope of a patient's consent should not be considered as an intentional tort or species of assault and battery as it has been viewed in the past. Other authorities note that "negligence standards which deal with the possession and use of skill and due care better accord with the realities of the physician-patient relationship." (1 Louisell and Williams, Medical Malpractice § 8.09.)

Dries, 424 N.Y.S.2d at 564.

For these reasons, the case of Eis v. Chestnut, 627 P.2d 124 (N.M. 1981), upon which the plaintiff heavily relies, is easily distinguishable. Furthermore, even New Mexico closely circumscribes the application of battery in the context of a medical malpractice action:

To defeat a battery claim, however, the information which must be disclosed is quite narrow in scope. A physician only has to inform the patient of the nature of the procedure; that is, what the doctor proposes to do to him.

Gerety v. Demers, 589 P.2d 180, 191 (N.M. 1978) (emphasis in original). The Gerety court added: "It is now generally held that an action involving lack of informed consent does not lie within the traditional concepts of battery." 589 P.2d at 192.

Thus, the only question relevant in a battery case, as recognized in New Mexico, is whether the patient was advised of and impliedly authorized the medical treatment which was going to be performed. In the present case it is undisputed that the plaintiff was informed of the nature of the procedure prior to the operation; therefore, even under New Mexico's law the plaintiff could not recover on a theory of battery.

POINT IV

NO CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT HAS BEEN VIOLATED.

A. This Case is Distinguishable From Cases Involving Constitutional Rights.

Under the facts of this case, constitutional claims are not properly invoked. Here, Dr. Capel was acting in compliance with statutory law and case law; he was fully entitled to rely on such legal authority.

Furthermore, plaintiff's constitutional rights were not violated by the defendant's reliance on the patient's implied consent and on the wife's written consent. There is no justification or need for defendant to address the constitutionality of legislation from a hypothetical viewpoint.

The factor which distinguishes the cases cited by plaintiff from the present case is the voluntary nature of the conduct involved. The factual setting of this case is repeated daily in thousands of hospitals across the country. Patients who submit to care voluntarily are not being deprived of constitutional rights.

In contrast, the refusal to allow hospital personnel and medical doctors to rely upon written consent of others in this type of factual setting will have one of two consequences: (1) providers will be unfairly placed at risk if they proceed with care that may be life saving; or (2) they would let patients go without care, a potentially fatal consequence.

This Court need not venture into a discussion of constitutional issues because no such issues are involved. The factual setting presented here of a patient who consents by deed, if not by word, and of a spouse who consents after her husband has voluntarily received medication which impairs his legal capacity involves no constitutional violations.

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